33 98

IN THE SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 73,458

HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY, d/b/a TAMPA GENERAL HOSPITAL,

Petitioner,

vs.

LOTTIE TAYLOR, as Guardian of the Person and Property of IRMA JEAN PAYNE, Incompetent,

Respondent.

CLERK, SUPRCIE COURT

SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL Case No. 87-2350

ON PETITION TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

(CERTIFIED QUESTIONS OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE)

INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS OF PETITIONER

MICHAEL N. BROWN, ESQUIRE ALLEN, DELL, FRANK & TRINKLE Barnett Plaza, Suite 1240 101 East Kennedy Boulevard Post Office Box 2111 Tampa, Florida 33601 (813) 223-5351

and

#### STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner is the Hillsborough County Hospital Authority, a political subdivision of the State of Florida, and by Special Act is charged with the responsibility of operating the Tampa General Hospital in Tampa, Florida. It will be referred to throughout as the Hospital Authority. The Hospital Authority was the defendant at the trial level below and Respondent Lottie Taylor, as Guardian of the person and property of Irma Jean Payne, was the plaintiff below and will be referred to herein as Taylor.

As background information, the Hospital Authority was created by the State Legislature in 1980 by Chapter 80-510, Laws of Florida. The predecessor to the Hospital Authority was the Hillsborough County Hospital and Welfare Board, originally created in 1963, Chapter 63-1402, Laws of Florida. In addition to having the responsibility of operating Hillsborough County's two public hospitals, also held the responsibility of operating the welfare system for Hillsborough County as well as the ambulance system. In 1980, when the Hospital Authority was created, the Hospital and Welfare Board was abolished by Chapter The responsibility of operating Tampa 80-509, Laws of Florida. General Hospital being transferred to the newly created Hospital Authority and the responsibilities of the Division of Welfare and the Division of Emergency Medical Services were transferred to Hillsborough County.

In 1976, prior to the creation of the Hospital Authority, its predecessor, the Hospital and Welfare Board, established an

escrow fund (referred to as the HWB Malpractice Reserve Fund)

(A. 5-17) and designated The First National Bank of Florida as the depository. It is this fund that is the center of the controversy of this action.

In October 1980, Irma Jean Payne (the ward of Taylor) underwent a tubal ligation and during that surgery, or recovery period thereafter, suffered injuries. (R. 1-7) Suit was filed by Taylor alleging that the Hospital Authority was medically negligent in the care and treatment of Irma Jean Payne and that such negligence was the cause of her injuries. (R. 1-7) After a rather prolonged litigation process, the Hospital Authority and Taylor entered into a stipulation to the effect that the Hospital Authority would not contest liability and that the case had a value of \$2,500,000.00. However, the Hospital Authority continued to assert, as it had in the past, that its liability for this incident was limited to \$50,000.00. $\frac{1}{2}$  pursuant to §768.28(5), Fla. Stat. (1980 Supplement). Taylor, on the other hand, attempted to avoid that limitation of liability by arguing that the creation of the escrow fund by the Hospital Authority, in essence, amounted to the purchase of an insurance policy. Therefore, the Hospital Authority waived its sovereign immunity to the extent of the entire fund.

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{1}{\text{This}}$  action accrued prior to the effective date of Chapter 81-317, Laws of Florida, and thus, the prior limitation amounts of §768.28(5), Fla. Stat., of \$50,000.00 per claim and \$100,000.00 per incident apply here. The statute further provides, however, that judgments in excess of these limits may be reported to the legislature and paid in whole or in part only by further act of legislature.

The trial court entered its Order Regarding Motion for Court Determination of All Pending Legal Questions Including, But Not Limited to, Questions of Constitutionality, Insurance and Other Matters (A. 1-17) on June 2, 1987 (R. 618-634) holding:

- 1. That the establishment of the Malpractice Reserve Fund by the Hospital Authority created "a fund of, or in the nature of, insurance with the purposeful intent of procuring the same." (R. 618-620)
- 2. That by establishing such fund, "pursuant to F.S. 768.28(10) and the relevant decisional law, there has been a waiver of sovereign immunity and corresponding statutory limits of liability coextensive with the amount of money in the foregoing fund established by the Defendant Hillsborough County Hospital and Welfare Board d/b/a Tampa General Hospital at the time of the negligence heretofore set forth."

  (R. 620)
- 3. That Chapter 80-510, <u>Laws of Florida</u>, which created the Hospital Authority, was unconstitutional (R. 620, 621) because:
  - a. Tampa General Hospital failed to notify Irma

    Jean Payne that its liability was limited;
  - b. Chapter 80-510 was created for the primary purpose of limiting the Hospital Authority's liability; and
  - c. The Act's title failed to briefly express the subject matter of the law.

- 4. That judgment would be entered in favor of Taylor and against the Hillsborough County Hospital and Welfare Board a/k/a Hillsborough County Hospital Authority in the amount of \$2,500,000.00. (R. 621)
- 5. That execution would issue against the public body.

The Hospital Authority timely filed its Motion for Rehearing and Clarification (R. 632-652) on June 11, 1987. That motion was denied by the trial court on August 12, 1987. (R. 1003) During the interim, between the signing of the "Order" and the denial of the Hospital Authority's rehearing, Chapter 87-134, Laws of Florida, became effective. That Act provided that the purchase of insurance did not waive sovereign immunity and, by its terms, provided that it applied to all cases where a final judgment had not yet been rendered.

The Hospital Authority then appealed the matter to the Second District Court of Appeal. (R. 1033, 1034) The District Court agreed with the Hospital Authority's contentions that the primary purpose of its enabling act, Chapter 80-510, was to restructure the hospital and welfare functions in Hillsborough County and that, in fact, the Hospital Authority had already acquired sovereign immunity by general act in 1977 under Chapter 77-86, Laws of Florida. The District Court accordingly reversed the trial court as to its ruling that Chapter 80-510, Laws of Florida, was unconstitutional.

However, in a split opinion, the District Court affirmed the trial court's holding that the creation of the escrow fund by the

Hospital Authority was the equivalent of purchasing insurance and that the Hospital Authority had waived its sovereign immunity up to the amount of the fund allotted to Tampa General Hospital, i.e., \$2,500,000.00. The District Court then amended the judgment to allow Taylor to execute against the entire Tampa General fund. Judge Parker dissented from the majority opinion and would have found that the creation of the fund by the Hospital Authority was not the equivalent of purchasing insurance. A copy of that opinion is found in the Appendix. (A. 18-29)

The Hospital Authority next moved for rehearing, rehearing en banc and requested certification of the question of whether governmental hospitals who established escrow funds created insurance which waived sovereign immunity on malpractice claims to the aggregate limit of the fund. The District Court denied the motion for rehearing en banc and the motion for rehearing except to the extent that it did certify questions to be of great public importance. (A. 30-31)

The Hospital Authority then filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction and that brings us to these proceedings.

# QUESTIONS CERTIFIED TO BE OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

The Second District Court of Appeal certified the following questions to be of great public importance:

1. WHETHER THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A SELF-INSURANCE TRUST FUND OR ESCROW ACCOUNT BY THE GOVERN-MENTAL HOSPITAL IS THE EQUIVALENT TO THE PURCHASE OF INSURANCE?

2. WHETHER A GOVERNMENTAL HOSPITAL WHICH HAS ESTABLISHED A SELF-INSURANCE TRUST FUND WAIVES SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY AGAINST CLAIMS UP TO THE AMOUNT OF THE FUND UNDER SECTION 286.28. FLA. STAT. (1979)?

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The arguments presented by the Petitioner Hospital Authority are relatively simple. As to the first question presented, the answer is quite simply no, the establishment of a self-insurance fund or escrow account is not the equivalent of purchasing insurance. As defined by the courts and the legislature, "insurance" means transferring the risk of a known contingency from one (the insured) to another (the insurer) for a consideration (the premium) and the other agreeing (by the insurance policy) to pay or indemnify the insured should that risk occur. None of these elements are present when an entity, be it public or private, simply decides to place its own money into a fund and retain all of the risk that such a contingency will occur.

The Hospital Authority's answer to the second question is likewise in the negative. The maintenance of an escrow fund or "self-insurance" does not waive sovereign immunity pursuant to \$286.28, Fla. Stat. This is true for either of two reasons. First, \$286.28 simply does not apply here by its own terms. The statute specificially states that in consideration of premiums paid, the insurer is denied the opportunity to claim sovereign immunity to the extent of the insurance coverage. No insurance policy was purchased here by the Hospital Authority, no premium was paid and no insurance policy was isssued. The policy reasons

announced in <u>Avallone</u>, <u>infra</u>, for waiving sovereign immunity to the extent of commercially purchased insurance coverage are not present here. In fact, public policy would be thwarted by application of the <u>Avallone</u> decision to these facts. Since the statute does not specifically apply to an escrow fund established by a public body, a further waiver of sovereign immunity cannot be inferred. The statute must be strictly construed.

Second, §286.28 was repealed before the trial court order appealed from was rendered. Chapter 87-134, Laws of Florida, repealed §286.28 and provided that the purchase of insurance by a governmental body did not constitute a waiver of sovereign immunity. The Act by its terms applied to all causes of action where a final judgment had not yet been rendered. Since the trial court had not disposed of the Hospital Authority's motion for rehearing until after the effective date of Chapter 87-134, the order was not rendered until after §286.28 was no longer was in existence. There was no waiver.

#### QUESTION ONE

WHETHER THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A SELF-INSURANCE TRUST FUND OR ESCROW ACCOUNT BY THE GOVERN-MENTAL HOSPITAL IS EQUIVALENT TO THE PURCHASE OF INSURANCE?

The trial court held that the Hospital Authority had waived its sovereign immunity "pursuant to Florida Statutes, §768.28(10),2/ and the relevant decisional law" (R. 620) by creating its Malpractice Reserve Fund. In order to understand the purpose of the creation of this fund by the Hospital Authority, it is necessary to review the various legislative enactments of the mid-1970s.

A short time after the Waiver of Sovereign Immunity Act, \$768.28, Fla. Stat., took effect, Chapter 75-9, Laws of Florida, was enacted. That Act, among other things, created the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund, \$768.54, Fla. Stat. At the time of its enactment, the Act required every licensed hospital to join the fund unless they qualified to be exempted from participation. The permitted exemptions were (\$768.54(2)(c), Fla. Stat.):

1. Post a bond in an amount equivalent to \$10,000.00 per claim for each hospital bed in said hospital, not to exceed a \$2,500,000.00 annual aggregate.

<sup>2/</sup>The Hospital Authority believes that the trial court erroneously referred to §768.28(10), Fla. Stat. (1975), in its order. That statute was similar to §286.28 in that it waived sovereign immunity to the extent that insurance may have been purchased by the agency. This section, however, was repealed by Chapter 77-86, Laws of Florida, which was prior to the accrual of this cause of action.

- 2. Prove financial responsibility in an amount equivalent to \$10,000.00 per claim for each hospital bed in said hospital, not to exceed a \$2,500,000.00 annual aggregate, to the satisfaction of the board of governors of the fund, through the establishment of an appropriate escrow account.
- 3. Obtain professional liability coverage in an amount equivalent to \$10,000.00 or more per claim for each bed in said hospital from a private insurer, from the Joint Underwriting Association, or through a plan of selfinsurance as provided in §627.357. No hospital was required to obtain such coverage in excess of the \$2,500,000.00 annual aggregate. 3/

Factually, the record actually reflects that the escrow fund was established on May 25, 1976, to avoid membership in the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund. (R. 592, 622) In the month preceding Ms. Payne's operation, the Hospital Authority merely authorized its Executive Director to execute and deliver a promissory note to The First National Bank of Florida for a loan to increase the funds in the escrow account. (R. 634)

Legally, it should be noted that the provisions of §768.54, Fla. Stat. (1979), have <u>nothing</u> to do with sovereign immunity. Instead, those provisions deal with the limitation of liability which hospitals and doctors can obtain by becoming members of the

<sup>3/</sup>In 1980, Chapter 80-328, <u>Laws of Florida</u>, amended the Act so that no longer were governmental hospitals required to participate or meet one of the three exemptions.

Florida Patient's Compensation Fund. There is nothing in this medical malpractice act to suggest that Tampa General Hospital would lose its limitation of liability under the sovereign immunity statutes if it failed to create an account. In fact, \$768.54(2)(d)(1), Fla. Stat. (1979), simply provides that the Hospital "shall be subject to liability under law without regard to the provisions of this section" if it failed to comply. Thus, Tampa General Hospital would still have had sovereign immunity under \$768.28, Fla. Stat. (1979), if it had ignored the medical malpractice statute.

Is the establishment and maintenance of this escrow account by the Hospital Authority (and its precedessor in interest) the equivalent of purchasing insurance? As pointed out by the amici curiae, Hospital Board of Directors of Lee County and the Florida Hospital Association, in their brief with the District Court, there are significant differences between one purchasing a contract of insurance and one setting aside a sum of one's own money for protection of contingent liabilities. The purchasing of insurance spreads the risk among many policyholders and also results in the expenditure of public funds to purchase an asset, i.e., the contract of insurance. As we shall see later, it may have made sense for the legislature in \$768.28(10) and \$286.28, Fla. Stat., to allow the public to obtain the benefit of that expenditure waiving sovereign immunity to the extent of the insurance. The same is not true as far as the escrow fund is concerned. Here, the entity, whether it be a governmental agency, such as the Hospital Authority, or an individual, has not

spread the risk at all. The Hospital Authority has simply placed its own funds in an account and retained all of the risk itself.

Insurance is defined as "a contract whereby, for a stipu-lated consideration, one party undertakes to compensate the other for loss on a specified subject by specified perils" or "as a contract whereby one undertakes to indemnify another against loss, damage, or liability arising from an unknown or contingent event and is applicable only to some contingency or act to occur in the future." Black's Law Dictionary, Rev. 4th Ed.

In the Florida Insurance Code, "insurance" is defined as "a contract whereby one undertakes to indemnify another or pay or allow a specified amount or a determinable benefit upon determinable contingencies." (§624.02, Fla. Stat.)

Professor Long defines insurance thusly:

A liability insurance policy is a contract either with fixed monetary limits or a single aggregate amount for all losses. whereby for a specified consideration, called a premium, one party known as the insurer agrees to assume loss or liability imposed by law in respect to certain property, rights, or liability caused by specified risks or hazards. The party to be insured against loss or liability is called the assured or insured; the causes of damage, loss, or liability are risks or hazards; the property rights or liabilities of the insured which may subject the insured to loss or liability, the subject of insurance or the insurable interest.

The Law of Liability Insurance, Long, 1971 Vol. 1, §1.02.

Clearly, here there was no contract between the two parties wherein one paid the other a premium in exchange for the other's

promise to pay or indemnify upon the happening of a certain event. See Appleman, Insurance Law and Practice, Vol. 12, §7001.

Although no Florida case directly on point could be found, the case of Ponder v. Fulton-DeKalb Hospital Authority, 353 S.E. 2d 515 (Ga. 1987), is strikingly similar. There, Nellie Ponder brought suit against the Hospital Authority doing business as Grady Memorial Hospital alleging medical malpractice in her treatment during pregnancy and in the delivery and treatment of her son. The trial court granted partial summary judgment to the hospital finding that it had waived its sovereign immunity to the extent of its self-insurance fund. Georgia law provided that charitable institutions had sovereign immunity from suits except to the extent of insurance coverage. Thus, the question presented to the Georgia Supreme Court was whether the establishment and maintenance of Grady Hospital's self-insurance fund was the equivalent of insurance so as to waive immunity.

The Georgia Supreme Court reasoned,

The definition of insurance demonstrates the respects in which Grady's plan differs from ordinary insurance. Insurance is a contract whereby one party agrees to assume certain risks for another party in consideration for the payment of premiums and to pay the insured party a specified amount on the happening of a particular contingency. Bankers Health and Life Insurance Co. v. Knott, 41 Ga. App. 639, 154 S.E. 194 (1930), quoting from 32 C.J. 975, sec. 1. A necessary element of insurance is distribution of risk. Under Grady's plan, no premium is paid, no second party assumes the risk and no distribution of risk is accomplished. The Grady plan better fits into the mold of a reserve fund created to protect against contingencies. An important effect of the fund is the protection of the charitable assets.

The policy considerations behind our holdings of immunity waiver to the extent of liability insurance coverage may be stated thusly: the premium has been paid, the coverage has been extended, so it must have been intended that the benefits be paid. No such policy considerations exist here. The plan states its purpose as the provision of a fund to pay legal claims. We construe a legal claim for the purposes of this case to be a claim which could succeed in the absence of the fund. This claim could not. We therefore find that the hospital's defense of charitable immunity is not waived because of the existence of the self-insurance plan.

#### Id. at 517.

Insurance is a contract by which a party pays a premium and shifts a specified risk to another party. In this case, Tampa General Hospital created an escrow fund of its own monies (plus a loan from the bank) as a reserve account for malpractice. When the citizens of Hillsborough County pay \$25,000.00 as a premium on a \$2,500,000.00 insurance policy, it may make sense for the courts or the legislature to enforce a judgment for a particular party up to the amount of \$2,500,000.00 against the insurance company, otherwise, there would be a windfall to the insurance company. On the other hand, when the government has fully retained the risk and a \$2,500,000.00 judgment for one claimant will cost the government \$2,500,000.00, it makes no sense to describe the fund as "insurance." There is no windfall in this case.

The provisions of §768.54(2)(c), Fla. Stat. (1979), required an escrow account "in an amount equivalent to \$10,000.00 per claim for each hospital bed in said hospital, not to exceed a \$2,500,000.00 annual aggregate. . . ." It should be noted that

the lower court decided to "waive" Tampa General Hospital's liability to the full extent of the fund which was established for a hospital with more than 250 beds and with thousands of patients each year. If there is a "waiver" by virtue of this "insurance," it would be equally logical to make the insurance \$10,000.00 for this single claim involving one hospital bed. There is no logic to the lower court's ruling which depletes a fund for the exclusive benefit of a single patient when it was designed to protect thousands of patients. The legislature may have the authority to make such a decision through a claims bill, but this is not a decision which was delegated under the statutes to a judicial forum.

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