IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 73,458

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

(1) The public officers in charge or governing bodies, as the case may be . . . are hereby authorized, in their discretion, to secure and provide for such respective political subdivisions, . . . , insurance to cover liability for damages on account of bodily or personal injury or death resulting therefrom to any person, . . .

(Emphasis supplied).

Subsection (2) of the statute contains two parts. Its first part prohibits commercial liability insurers from asserting the defense of sovereign immunity; its second part, which is addresed to state agencies rather than liability insurers, waives sovereign immunity to the extent of any "insurance" "secured and provided" under the authority of subsection (1):

(2) In consideration of the premium at which such insurance may be written, it shall be a part of any insurance contract providing said coverage that the insurer shall not be entitled to the benefit of the defense of governmental immunity of any such political subdivision of this state in any suit instituted against any such political subdivision as herein provided, or in any suit brought against the insurer to enforce collection under such an insurance contract; and that the immunity of said political subdivision against any liability described in subsection (1) as to which such insurance coverage has been provided, and suit in connection therewith, are waived to the extent and only to the extent of such insurance coverage; ...

(Emphasis supplied). As a result, and because \$768.28 and \$286.28 must both be given effect according to Avallone, in order to prevail on this issue the hospital must

- 8 -

necessarily convince this Court that the type of "self-insurance" which it was authorized to provide by §768.28, and which it secured and provided for the plaintiff in this case, is not "insurance to cover liability for damages" within the meaning of \$286.28(1).5/

In our judgment, "insurance" is "insurance", whether it is self-insurance or commercially-procured insurance. "Malpractice insurance" is defined in the Insurance Code, in a manner which is broad enough to cover both, as follows:

> Malpractice.--Insurance against legal liability of the insured, and against loss, damage or expense incidental to a claim of such liability, arising out of the death, injury, or disablement of any person, or arising out of damage to the economic interest of any person, as the result of negligence in rendering expert, fiduciary, or professional service.

Section 624.605(k), Fla. Stat. (1979).

Elsewhere in the Insurance Code, the legislature authorized the creation of the

hospital's self-insurance trust fund, called it "insurance", and placed it under the regula-

tory authority of the Department of Insurance, as follows:

Medical Malpractice Insurance; Purchase.--

(1) A group or association of health care providers as defined in s. 768.54(1)(b) [which includes hospitals, like the petitioner], composed of any number of members, is authorized to selfinsure against claims arising out of the rendering of, or failure to render, medical care or services and coverage for bodily injury or property damage, including all patient injuries arising out of the insured's activities, upon obtaining approval from the Department of Insurance and upon complying with the following conditions:

(a) Establishment of a Medical Malpractice Risk Management Trust Fund to provide coverage against professional medical malpractice liability.

^{5&#}x27; Because this issue depends entirely upon the meaning of an explicit statutory scheme contained in the Florida Statutes, the hospital's reliance upon decisions from other jurisdictions involving analogous issues and different statutory schemes seems to us to be misplaced. Accordingly, we will limit our arguments here to the language of the Florida Statutes.

(b) Employment of professional consultants for loss prevention and claims management coordination under a risk management program.

Any such group or association shall be subject to regulation and investigation by the department. The group or association shall be subject to such rules as the department adopts, and shall also be subject to Part VII of chapter 626, relating to trade practices and frauds.

Section 627.357(1), Fla. Stat. (1979). In our judgment, this statute clearly puts to rest (in Florida, at least) any notion that "self-insurance" cannot be considered "insurance". See Gabriel v. Travelers Indemnity Co., 515 So.2d 1322 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987), review denied, 525 So.2d 878 (Fla. 1988) (municipality's "self-insurance," as authorized by \$768.28(13), Fla. Stat. (1979), is "insurance," preventing uninsured motorist claim against tort victim's insurer).

An examination of the documents included in the hospital's appendix will reveal that the hospital's "Medical Malpractice Self-Insurance Risk Management Trust Fund" (as it is called in the documents) was set up under this statute to insure two hospitals (Tampa General Hospital and Hillsborough County Hospital), and that it complied with the statute in all respects. The documents also reveal that the monies placed into this trust fund were earmarked for a particular purpose, to the exclusion of any other purpose: "Said HWB Malpractice Reserve Fund is and shall be restricted solely for the authorized payment of claims for medical malpractice under the self insurance program of the Board". The documents also reflect that the trust fund was placed in the control of a separate commercial entity, the First National Bank of Florida, which was charged with the responsibility of earning income upon it, and which was entitled to a fee for its services in the amount of 3% of all annual income earned on the funds.^{6/}

 $[\]underline{6'}$ We mention these facts--that the funds were transferred to a third-party, that they generate income, that the third-party is paid for managing the fund, and that the funds have been placed in trust for, and restricted solely to the payment of claims by, medical malpractice victims--to make it clear that far more is involved here than the mere

reflect that the trust fund was created in lieu of, and as a considered alternative to, another option open to the hospital--participation in the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund.^{7/} In form, of course, these documents do not create a typical commercial liability insurance policy; in substance, however, there is very little to distinguish the hospital's self-insurance trust fund from such a commercial arrangement (which is probably why the legislature called it "insurance", and required that it be subject to the regulatory authority of the Department of Insurance).

The hospital's argument is clearly constructed upon matters of form, not substance, and we think it should be just as clear that the hospital's self-insurance trust fund is "insurance" within the meaning of that term. Surely, it ought to be irrelevant whether the hospital chooses to insure itself by utilizing the self-insurance authorization of \$627.357, or by joining the FPCF under \$768.54, or by purchasing a commercial liability insurance policy, since the result should logically be the same under each alternative form of "insurance". See Gabriel v. Travelers Indemnity Co., 515 So.2d 1322 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987), review denied, 525 So.2d 878 (Fla. 1988).

We need not rely on logic alone, however, since we think the same conclusion can

[&]quot;budgeting" of taxpayer dollars to offset liability claims, as The Florida League of Cities claims in its amicus brief. Once it is understood that the trust fund is no longer under the direct control of the hospital but has been placed in trust for medical malpractice victims, and that it can be used for no other purpose, then it should be clear that the League's complaint--that approval of the District Court's decision "would drive a stake straight through the heart of government's budgetary capabilities and substantially impair government's ability to efficiently provide governmental services in a responsibly fiscal manner" (League's brief, p. 9)--is rhetorical hyperbole at its most extreme, which adds nothing of substance to the debate here.

 $[\]frac{7}{}$ We agree with the hospital that, at least on the date the plaintiff's cause of action accrued, the hospital was not *required* to participate in the FPCF. However, the documents clearly reflect that the hospital would have joined the FPCF had it not created the self-insurance trust fund as an equivalent alternative, and that the trust fund was therefore considered by the hospital as a fully comparable substitute for, and alternative to, participation in the FPCF--and those facts, in our judgment, should at least inform the determination of whether the hospital's self-insurance trust fund should be considered "insurance" within the meaning of \$286.28.

be fairly read from the combination of \$768.28, \$627.357, and \$286.28. To briefly recapitulate, \$768.28(13) expressly authorizes, in the alternative, self-insurance or commercial insurance. Section 627.357(1) expressly authorizes health care providers to create self-insurance under the regulatory jurisdiction of the Department of Insurance, in the form of a "Trust Fund to provide coverage against professional medical malpractice Section 286.28 makes it clear that governmental *liability*" (emphasis supplied). authorities can "secure and provide . . . insurance to cover liability for damages" (emphasis supplied), and that sovereign immunity is waived to the extent of the "insurance" provided. Since the hospital's trust fund is statutorily defined by \$627.357(1)as a fund "to provide coverage against professional medical malpractice liability", and since this is precisely the type of "insurance to cover liability for damages" which governmental agencies are authorized to "secure and provide" by \$286.28, and since the various statues involved must be read in pari materia, according to Avallone--the only logical conclusion which emerges from such a reading is that the hospital's statutorilyauthorized self-insurance is "insurance" within the meaning of \$286.28, as the lower courts held.

One final point needs to be made concerning the hospital's position on this issue. The hospital argues that, since the public's money is involved, there is no logic in allowing its self-insurance trust fund to be treated in the same manner as a commercial liability insurance policy, since the fund was designed to protect thousands of patients and should not be allowed to be substantially exhausted by a single patient.⁸/ The simple answer to this contention is, of course, that the hospital does not negligently injure

 $[\]frac{8}{2}$ One of the hospital's amici has argued that no public money is involved. This contention is clearly in error. The money in issue here clearly belonged to a governmental agency (a tax district hospital) before it was transferred to a third party in trust for the plaintiff. Because of the fund's origin, the money is clearly public money, not private money.

LAW OFFICES, PODHURST ORSECK JOSEFSBERG EATON MEADOW OLIN & PERWIN, P.A. - OF COUNSEL, WALTER H. BECKHAM, JR. 25 WEST FLAGLER STREET - SUITE 800, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33I30-I780

thousands of patients; fortunately (or unfortunately), it negligently injures only a few. The fund in issue here was set up with public monies by a duly-constituted public authority; it has no other purpose than to pay the damages of the handful of patients which it may negligently injure over time; and it therefore ought to be used for that purpose.

In the words of *Avallone*, "[t]o construe the section [\$286.28(1)] otherwise would deprive the public of the benefit of the public expenditure". 493 So.2d at 1004. That observation should be just as compelling when the public expenditure is for self-insurance as it is when the public expenditure is in the form of premiums for a commercial insurance policy--since the public expenditure can be used for no other purpose in either event. We therefore respectfully submit that the lower courts did not err in concluding that the hospital's self-insurance trust fund was "insurance to cover liability for damages" within the meaning of that phrase in \$286.28.

B. SECTION 286.28, FLA STAT. (1979), EFFECTS A WAIVER OF THE HOSPITAL'S SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY UP TO THE AMOUNT OF ITS SELF-INSURANCE TRUST FUND.

The hospital and its amici next contend that, even if the hospital's self-insurance trust fund is "insurance to cover liability for damages" within the meaning of that phrase in \$286.28, the statute effects no waiver of immunity beyond the waiver already effected by \$768.28, and that the hospital remains immune from suit for all amounts in excess of \$50,000.00. This, of course, was essentially the argument which this Court rejected in Avallone, when dealing with the purchase of commercial liability insurance. 9/ And if a self-insurance trust fund is (as commercial liability insurance is) "insurance to cover

 $[\]frac{9}{10}$ To be more precise, the argument in Avallone was that the purchase of insurance under §286.28 did not waive immunity for "planning level" negligence, because §768.28 did not waive immunity for "planning level" negligence--and this Court rejected that argument. In this case, the argument is that provision for insurance under §286.28 did not waive immunity up to the amount of insurance provided, because §768.28 did not waive immunity above \$50,000.00. Although the two arguments address different aspects of §768.28, they clearly amount in substance to the same argument.

liability for damages" within the meaning of that phrase, as we have argued, then it follows inexorably that the argument must be rejected again for the same reason it was rejected in Avallone.

Section 286.28 plainly provides that, if "insurance to cover liability for damages" is secured and provided by a political subdivision, then the "immunity of said political subdivision against any liability described in subsection (1) as to which such insurance coverage has been provided, and suit in connection therewith, are waived to the extent ... of such insurance coverage; ..." (emphasis supplied). A waiver "to the extent of insurance coverage" is clearly a different and far broader waiver than the limited waiver of immunity effected by \$768.28, which is effected even where no insurance coverage whatsoever has been provided---and to read \$286.28 as the hospital suggests is tantamount to pretending that the statute simply does not exist. Clearly, as the Court has already held in Avallone, both \$768.28 and 286.28 must be read together as cumulative waivers of immunity, and where "insurance to cover liability for damages" has been secured and provided, then the plain language of \$286.28's waiver of immunity to the extent of that coverage must be given effect.

While it should be unnecessary to go beyond Avallone and the plain language of \$286.28, it is worth reminding the Court that the legislature elsewhere made it explicit (with respect to the Board of Regents, at least) that the funding of a self-insurance trust fund has exactly the same effect as the purchase of commercial insurance--a waiver of immunity up "to the extent of funds available in a particular insurance trust fund for the satisfaction of any claim for which such trust fund was established". Section 240.213, Fla. Stat. (1979). We do not suggest that this statute is controlling on the different governmental defendant in this case. However, we do suggest that, in determining the legislative intent concerning the application of the plain language of \$286.28 to the hospital's self-insurance trust fund, the Court can properly assume that the legislature

intended to be consistent, rather than inconsistent. $\frac{10}{}$

In any event, if the hospital's self-insurance trust fund is "insurance to cover liability for damages" within the meaning of that phrase in §286.28, then the plain language of \$286.28 requires a conclusion that the hospital's immunity from suit was waived up to the extent of that insurance. Once it is determined that the statute cannot be altogether ignored, it simply cannot be read any other way. See Avallone, supra. Of course, the legislature was free to provide that immunity is waived by a self-insurance trust fund only up to a specified amount of the total funds set aside as "insurance to cover liability for damages", but the point is that it did not (until 1987 at least, a point which we will address in a moment). And if \$286.28 governs the extent of the hospital's waiver of immunity here, as we have argued it should, then the lower courts were clearly correct in concluding that the hospital's immunity from suit was waived up to the amount of the plaintiff's stipulated damages. If the self-insurance trust fund is exhausted, and assuming that the hospital does not fund it further in voluntary recognition of its moral obligation to do so, so be it; its immunity will thereafter be governed by \$768.28. In the meantime, however, the fund ought to be used for the sole purpose for which it was set aside in the first place.

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